FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2013 JUN -7 AM 11: 38

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY _____
DEPUTY

NO. 44034-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SERGEY GENSITSKIY,

Appellant.

FILED
2013 JUN -6 PM 2: 08

COURT OF APPEALS DIV I
STATE OF WASHINGTON

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable John P. Wulle, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LENELL NUSSBAUM
2003 Western Ave., Suite 330
Seattle, Washington 98121
206/728-0996

Attorney for Appellant

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred and violated appellant's constitutional right to have notice of the charges by permitting the State to amend charges after the State rested its case on Counts 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11. U.S. Const., amends. 6, 14; Const., art. I, § 22.¹

2. There was insufficient evidence as a matter of law to support the conviction on Count 6.

3. There was insufficient evidence as a matter of law to support the conviction on Count 2.

4. The State failed to charge a crime in Count 7.

5. Appellant assigns error to Instruction No. 26, quoted in full in Appendix A. CP 47.

6. The court erred by failing to give a limiting instruction to the jury when witnesses were impeached with prior inconsistent statements.

7. The court erred by admitting evidence of an overheard private conversation, in violation of RCW 9.73.030 and .050.

¹ Constitutional provisions and statutes are set out in Appendix B.

8. The Judgment and Sentence found appellant was convicted of child molestation in the first degree, a crime the State did not charge, in Count 7. CP 103.

9. Appellant assigns error to the court's finding in the Judgment and Sentence, CP 103, to the extent it applies to Counts 2 and 7:

The defendant is a sex offender subject to indeterminate sentencing under RCW 9.94A.507.

10. Appellant's sentence for crimes that may have been committed before the effective date of statutory amendments violates the Constitution's prohibition against ex post facto laws.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Do the constitutional right to have notice of the accusation and CrR 2.1(d) permit the State to amend charges after it has rested its case to charge greater and different crimes and to expand the charging period from a few months to over sixteen years?

2. Where the State's witness denied he was ever molested, was there sufficient evidence to support a conviction?

3. Where the State's witness did not testify sexual contact occurred when she was less than 12 years old was there sufficient evidence of child molestation in the first degree?

4. Does a charge of child molestation 2° alleging the child was under age 14 and giving a charging period when the child was under age 12, support a conviction of any crime?

5. When the court admits evidence for a limited purpose and a party requests a limiting instruction, must the court give it at that time?

6. May the court admit evidence obtained in violation of the Privacy Act?

7. When a charge may have occurred before the effective date of a sentencing law, may the court apply the later amendment of that statute to the crime?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Substantive Facts

Sergey and Yelena Gensitskiy immigrated from the Ukraine with four children in 1990, settling in Clark County, Washington. They now have ten children the following ages at the time of trial: Svetlana (26), Victor (24), Diana (23), Zhanna

(21), David (20), Jennifer (19), Robert (18), Corrina (17), Vadim (14), and Samuel (6). RP 196-98, 1092-93.

The family maintains many home-country "old school" customs. They speak Ukrainian and English, eat Russian foods and attend Russian church. RP 387-89. They prohibit drinking, smoking, and sex outside of marriage. Television is not a pastime. They expect respect to elders, humility, hard work, contributions to the household, and church participation. RP 238, 422-24, 486-87, 794-95.

Sergey and Yelena are not educated professionals. They work very hard. Sergey drove truck at night, farmed, and did landscaping. Yelena was a housekeeper for wealthy households. Gradually the older children found work helping clean or do landscaping for the same households. RP 240, 366-72, 1019, 1119-20.

At their house in Orchards, Svetlana had her own room, but all the boys shared one bedroom and all the younger girls shared another. The baby slept with his parents. RP 1012-14.

The family bought a house with 18 acres near Battle Ground about 2004. With five bedrooms,

Svetlana and Victor each had a room, the other girls and boys shared bedrooms. RP 197-99, 390, 1016-17, 1076-77. When they bought an adult family home with six bedrooms in Vancouver, Yelena lived there with Sam, caring for the residents. Corrina lived there from 2006, when she was 13; Diana moved there in 2008. RP 752-53, 1007-08, 1025-26. Sergey and the other children primarily lived at Battle Ground. RP 199, 1119.

Mitch Edington hired Sergey for major landscaping in 1996. He became social friends with the family, visiting several times a year through the summer of 2010. He saw no sign of avoidance or aversion. The children adored their father, always clamoring onto his lap.² RP 1042-51.

The family did housework and yard work for Dorothy and Ray Buchner and for Randy and Tami Patterson. David worked for Pattersons' adult foster son, Chris Nicks. The employers were impressed with the children's hard work. RP 236-40. David socialized with Chris and Randy, boating, or quadding in the mountains. RP 241-42.

² Svetlana still sat on her father's lap at age 25. RP 1062-63.

When David Gensitskiy was young, the Buchners offered to pay for college if he would keep his grades up. David did a lot of work at home, so they added the condition that he live on campus. In 2010, with their help he chose Edmonds Community College. David's parents were unhappy he was leaving the family home. RP 201-04, 372-74.

The summer of 2010, David was home less, staying with the Buchners, Chris Nicks and the Pattersons. His parents knew where he was. He spoke frequently with his mother by phone. He didn't see or talk to his dad much. RP 238-46.

Late that summer, the Pattersons and Buchners took a vacation on the coast. They took along Diana, David, and Corrina Gensitskiy. CP 146.³

As Diana saw David moving away from the family, she also wanted more independence. Other people's lives looked more exciting than living with her parents. She secretly began dating Chris Nicks in July, 2010, knowing her parents would not

³ A portion of the cross-examination of Corrina was not recorded. The court and parties prepared a Settlement of Record for that missing portion. CP 144-46; RP 761, 1380-86.

approve.⁴ She thought he was divorced but he was only separated. He had his own business, home and two children. He urged her to move away and live her own life. RP 249-50, 426-30, 485, 597, 1036.

In September, 2010, Diana moved in with the Pattersons. Paying no rent, she could come and go as she pleased, buy a car and live like an adult. The Pattersons liked that she helped Chris with his children. Diana moved without telling her parents. She was afraid she would disappoint them; moving out without getting married was not done. She had always been a respectful child. It was her first act of rebellion. RP 426-30, 486, 671.

Diana left a lengthy letter saying how she loved her parents, why she was seeking her own way.

I am writing this letter to my parents that I so deeply love and cherish. You have taught me the value of family that stays together and supports each other and loves unconditionally. In this letter I have no intention of hurting my mama and papa. I truly have no negatives feelings meant.

... All the affections you have given us is sincere and true. Walking in the door and greeted with a kiss and a hug. Sitting on papas lap and having conversations about life I have learned

⁴ Corrina knew of the relationship. CP 145.

much valuable life traits I want to live by and carry. ...

I express to everyone and my wonderful parents that I thank you for loving me and raising me up. I couldn't want anyone else. I have become the person I am with the positive uplifting attitude from my mom and dad.

Nonetheless, she wrote of her unhappiness cleaning and caring for residents at the adult care home, the recent family disruption over David leaving. She did not say where she was going. Ex. 2.

Yelena and Sergey were terrified for their daughter. Yelena thought she had been kidnapped until she found the letter. They called everyone, looking for her. Yelena drove all around Vancouver and three times to Edmonds to see if Diana was staying with David. For two weeks they didn't know what had happened to her. Yelena could not eat or sleep. Twice Sergey took Yelena to the emergency room, afraid she was having a heart attack from the stress. RP 427-28, 789-90, 1004, 1034-35, 1093-95.

When the children suggested Diana might be with Chris, Yelena called Tami Patterson. Tami did not reveal Diana was living in their home. Tami quit answering Yelena's many calls or responding to messages. RP 237-38. Sergey went to Tami's

workplace to ask her about Diana. He gave the receptionist a different name since Tami was refusing their calls, but Tami avoided him, leaving him in the lobby for 1-1/2 hours. RP 1096-97.

Tami insisted Diana call her parents. Diana said she couldn't right then. RP 659-62.

Sergey discovered from cell phone records Diana and Corrina had been communicating. Sergey asked Corrina about it, hoping she would tell him where Diana was. As Yelena, Sergey and Corrina wept, still Corrina refused. Sergey lost his patience and threw her cell phone to the floor, breaking it. RP 1100-05.

Randy Peterson finally told Diana she had to contact her parents or he would. Diana responded by telling him of a prior sexual experience. He understood her to say her father molested her. RP 438-39, 599-600, 619. She had no idea these comments would open floodgates to disrupt lives. RP 480-85. Tami said if it happened to her, it probably happened to the other children, too. When Tami asked if she wanted her to report it, Diana said she didn't know. Tami was a mandatory

reporter. She said Diana should report it; by morning, Diana agreed. RP 521, 665-67.

Diana called David in Edmonds. She asked if he thought their father was "a pervert." David suddenly "flashed" on a memory of an incident in the shower with his father when he was 4 or 5. His father touched his penis. Nothing like that ever happened again to him. He told Diana he had a sexual encounter as well. RP 214-15, 229, 235, 496.

Chris Nicks drove Diana to get David in Edmonds. RP 489-92. On Friday, October 1, 2010, David and Chris picked up Robert and Vadim from school. They drove to the YWCA. David told his younger brothers they were going to report that their father had molested them. If they had anything similar to report, it was up to them to decide whether to report it. RP 221-24, 247-52.

Tami and Diana picked up Corrina from school. Tami left the girls alone in the car. Diana asked if Corrina thought their father was perverted, and if she "wanted to say something and get out of the house." As Diana listened and talked to Corrina and David, Diana came to believe things they said

had happened to her too. RP 520-22, 529, 664-68, 758-59; CP 146.

Officer Rich responded to the YWCA. He met individually with Diana, David and Corrina; none of them revealed any details of abuse to him. He gave them each forms to write statements. He didn't talk to Robert or Vadim. RP 558-76.

Sergey and Yelena only learned where Diana was when the police came October 1 to take Sam, then 4, into protective custody. RP 1097. All the Gensitskiy children spent the next few days with the Pattersons in Diana's custody. RP 621-22, 695. After a court hearing, Robert, Vadim and Sam were returned to their mother, Yelena, to have no contact with Sergey. RP 126-27, 1011. David returned to college.

Diana and Corrina continued living with the Pattersons. The Pattersons were unhappy to learn of Diana's relationship with Chris. They asked her to move out. She moved in with Chris. The Pattersons did not see her again. Then Diana and Chris broke up. In July 2012, Diana moved in with her mother. RP 418-20, 426-27, 460, 517, 702-03.

Once Diana moved out of the Pattersons', she questioned what she had reported and experienced. Corrina and the Pattersons called her a traitor. They forbade her from talking with Corrina. RP 524-26. The Pattersons became Corrina's foster parents. RP 698. Thereafter Corrina was baptized. Tami Patterson didn't know if anyone consulted Corrina's parents about it. RP 711.

a. David, Count 1

David Gensitskiy testified the children in his family had very little freedom. His father was upset that he would work outside the family to make money, to support his own car⁵ and have spending money. He expected David to work on the property for the entire family's benefit. RP 200-01.

David initially claimed he and his siblings were beaten at home with broomsticks, coat hangers, shoes, and hands. RP 213-14. He later described spankings becoming less frequent as he got older. He agreed all physical discipline stopped when the kids were 12-13. RP 237-38.

⁵ His parents gave him a Ford F-150 pickup truck for his 18th birthday in 2009. RP 258-62.

David testified to the one incident he had suddenly remembered at age 4 or 5 in the shower. He said his father fondled his penis and testes while himself having an erection. Nothing like that ever happened again. He never told anyone about it until 2010. RP 214-15, 220-21. Until Diana told him she was molested, this shower incident was "lost as in a repressed memory." Once Diana told him, David kept remembering more and more about the event. RP 264-66.

b. Diana, Counts 7-11

Diana recalled spankings in their home, occasionally with a belt, always on the butt, only if the children misbehaved or were dishonest. As the children got older, the spankings were replaced with sit-down talks. While she might have used the word "beaten" before, she believed "spanking" was more accurate. RP 418-22.

Diana testified that she had once believed her father had touched her inappropriately "down below." She thought she remembered waking up with a burning sensation when she was under age ten. It only happened once. Now she was not sure whether it was an accurate memory or not. RP 439-43.

Diana testified her father touched her breasts in a way that made her feel uncomfortable, but it was over her clothing and just a brushing past. It happened more than once. RP 441-42. She also recalled he would pull down her pants as a joke, walking behind her and tickling her. RP 443-45, 510. She recalled he walked into the bathroom once when she was showering, asked if she was in there, opened the shower door, but it was a joke. He did not touch her. There was never much privacy in a large family. RP 446-47.

The State questioned Diana about an earlier unsworn statement. Diana testified her father did not put his hands down her pants, although she told a detective he did. She did not recall whether her father pinched her bottom, although she had said he did. She denied he kissed her breasts and did not recall telling the detective he did. RP 448-50. She did not recall saying it happened as recently as summer 2010. RP 452-53.

Diana signed a Declaration prepared by Corrina's lawyer relating events very similar to what Corrina described; however, she testified she

and Corrina talked a lot and they adopted each other's information as their own. RP 467; Ex. 3.

Diana wrote in her initial statement that her father masturbated her. She testified, however, that he never put his hand on her privates. Once she reported it, David and Corrina said, "Me, too," they had been abused. Although Diana wrote a "report," Ex. 1, and signed the declaration, Ex. 3, she testified her written statements were not all truthful. Some of what she reported were not her experiences, but things David and Corrina said. RP 500-01, 511.

She found if she tried to correct what she had said, people called her a liar, a traitor. She had screaming matches with Chris about it. She came under pressure from all directions. Yet she testified that not everything she had reported was accurate. RP 502-05.

c. Robert, Count 12

On October 1, 2010, when asked if anything happened to him with his father, Robert said no. After staying with the Pattersons for a few days, where David told him what happened to him, Robert recalled a single incident when he was about 12.

He awoke in his bed to feel someone touching his testicles. He faced the wall and did not see who it was; but he concluded it was his father from the heavy breathing. Nothing like that ever happened to him again. RP 263, 321-26, 332-37, 348-50.

d. Vadim, Count 6

Vadim was born 11/20/97; he was 14 at the time of trial. Vadim testified that his father never did anything inappropriate to him. He made no report at the YWCA. After a few days in Diana's custody at the Pattersons, he realized his brothers and sisters were all saying bad things about his father. They all opposed their father and hinted he was a bad person. Vadim, then 12, got the idea that he should make up a story opposing his dad too. He and Robert talked to the detective again, twice in one day. Vadim figured Robert was talking bad about their dad, so he figured he would too. RP 401-02.

The prosecutor asked Vadim about his prior statements to the officer. Outside the presence of the jury and the witness, defense counsel asked that the prosecution clarify, while asking the witness about his prior statements, whether he was

agreeing he made the prior statements or agreeing what he'd said was true. RP 393-97. The State agreed it was only impeachment, saying it had to dismiss the charge involving Vadim, but it wanted to explore his credibility so as not to influence the other counts. RP 409-10.

Vadim told the detective once at age 10 or 11 he was sleeping in his father's bed, he woke for only a second, and felt something touch his penis. He testified this story was not true. RP 399-401, 406, 415-16.

Vadim testified that he had been influenced by people he lived with; but at the time of trial he had his own opinion regardless of where he lived. RP 413-14.

Contrary to its earlier assertion, the State did not dismiss Count 6. The court denied a defense motion to dismiss, nonetheless noting it was an extremely weak count. RP 822-32, 838-39, 1197-1200.

e. Corrina, Counts 2-5

Corrina testified her mother told her that her body belonged to her parents until she was married.

She said her father repeatedly put his hands down her pants and touched her breasts. RP 740-41.

Before she was 7, he would put her to bed, remove her pajamas, and rub the insides of the children's upper thighs on their skin. She did not remember if he touched her vagina. RP 742.

When she was 13 both parents told her to lift her shirt and bra so they could inspect how she was "developing." She claimed "they" often opened the door to the shower to look at her and sometimes touch her. RP 742-43, 779-80.

Corrina said her father would touch her butt after she was 10. She claimed he would put his hand over or under her clothes while he was driving to touch her vagina and butt. She said this behavior began when she was 11 or 12, and happened monthly, up to the day she left home. The last time it happened, he told her, "If you love me, you'll let me do this." She told him to stop, but he would still do it. RP 743-46.

She said he touched her breasts whenever she saw him, weekly from when she was 12 or 13. He pulled her shirt down and rubbed them, held them. He always unbuttoned her bra. She would resist, but

he would overpower her. He would have her sit on his lap, then put his hands down her pants and touch her butt. Corrina claimed she saw him put his hands down Diana's pants, too. RP 745-51.

Corrina claimed she saw their father sexually abuse Jennifer, Zhanna, and Svetlana as well, at both houses. She once saw her mom and dad fondle Sam's penis and he cried. She was there in bed where it happened. RP 777; CP 145.⁶

Corrina never told an adult about what was happening. She testified she told one friend, Amy Quint, that her father improperly touched her. RP 751-52; CP 145. Ms. Quint, however, testified Corrina never said anything about sexual abuse. RP 1171-73. Corrina said much of the abuse occurred in the Vancouver adult family home, but none of the residents there ever saw it. RP 765.

Corrina recalled discipline included spanking and getting yelled at. RP 733-34. Yet she told the officer at the YWCA if she were sent back to her family, she would be physically harmed. She said she would be hit with 2x4s, ropes, switches,

⁶ The State did not file charges involving Sam, Svetlana, Zhanna, or Jennifer. CP 1-6, 13-18.

belts; she had lashes on her back once. She remained in foster care with the Pattersons. CP 145; RP 740.

The Pattersons took her traveling to California, Disneyland, Idaho, Arizona, and to Europe.⁷ Her new life included jewelry and nail polish, which her parents didn't permit. RP 699-01, 793-95.

f. Other evidence

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