#### NO. 44034-2-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

SERGEY V GENSITSKIY, Appellant

#### FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.11-1-01186-1

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

####

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

> Again, our position is that once you close, you're precluded in any way of amending it. And I think the amendments, as I recall it, broadened the one count...And my objection is that any time you broaden the date, you increase the prejudice to the Defendant.

RP 1242-1243.<sup>4</sup> This was not really an argument at all. First, the legal argument counsel made was incorrect. Second, a conclusory argument that any expansion of a charging period is per se prejudicial is not an argument as to how the defendant was specifically prejudiced in the presentation of his defense.

Gensitskiy has not claimed specific prejudice from the expansion of the charging period as to the incest counts against D.S.G. The trial court did not abuse its discretion and his claim fails.

# II.THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN<br/>COUNT 2, BUT INSUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN COUNT<br/>6.

#### a. <u>Count 2</u>

Gensitskiy claims that the evidence is insufficient to sustain the conviction in count 2, child molestation in the first degree against C.S.G., because the evidence is insufficient to prove that he rubbed C.S.G.'s upper inner thighs, underneath her clothing, for the purpose of sexual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In his brief, Gensitskiy claims that at pages 874-876 of the report of proceedings his attorney objected to the amendment of the charging period because it would be "particularly prejudicial to expand the charging period by 16 years when the defense involved the State's witness's ability to remember," and that he would have cross examined the witnesses differently had he known the charging period would be expanded. A review of these pages in the transcript reveals that counsel did not make this argument. If counsel made this argument elsewhere in the record, it has not been cited to by Gensitskiy. Moreover, this argument is wholly nonsensical. Gensitskiy's defense was that the children were either making the allegations up to escape a strict home life or that their memories of the abuse had been implanted by the suggestions of others. The expansion of the charging period as to the incest counts against D.S.G. in no way changed these two defenses.

gratification. Gensitskiy does not deny that this touching occurred while C.S.G. was under twelve. Rather, he relies entirely on the argument that this touching was "innocent" and could not have been for sexual gratification. Gensitskiy's argument is meritless.

The State is required under the Due Process Clause to prove all the necessary elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1; In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 362-65, 90 S. Ct 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); State v. Colquitt, 133 Wn. App. 789, 796, 137 P.3d 893 (2006). When determining whether there is sufficient evidence to support a conviction, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). If "any rational jury could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt", the evidence is deemed sufficient. Id. An appellant challenging the sufficiency of evidence presented at a trial "admits the truth of the State's evidence" and all reasonable inferences therefrom are drawn in favor of the State. State v. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.2d 410 (2004). When examining the sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence is just as reliable as direct evidence. State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

"Criminal intent may be inferred from circumstantial evidence or from conduct, where the intent is plainly indicated as a matter of logical probability." *State v. Billups*, 62 Wn.App. 122, 126, 813 P.2d 149 (1991), citing *State v. Caliguri*, 99 Wn.2d 501, 506, 664 P.2d 466 (1983) and *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

The appellate court's role does not include substituting its judgment for the jury's by reweighing the credibility of witnesses or importance of the evidence. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). "'It is not necessary that [we] could find the defendant guilty. Rather, it is sufficient if a reasonable jury could come to this conclusion.'" *United States v. Enriquez-Estrada*, 999 F.2d 1358 (9th Cir. 1993), (quoting *United States v. Nicholson*, 677 F.2d 706, 708 (9th Cir. 1982)).

The determination of the credibility of a witness or evidence is solely within the scope of the jury and not subject to review. *State v. Myers*, 133 Wn.2d 26, 38, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997), *citing State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). "The fact finder...is in the best position to evaluate conflicting evidence, witness credibility, and the weight to be assigned to the evidence." *State v. Olinger*, 130 Wn. App. 22, 26, 121 P.3d 724 (2005) (citations omitted).

A person commits child molestation in the first degree when that person has sexual contact with a child who is less than 12 years old. RCW 9A.44.083. "Sexual contact" is defined as any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either party or a third party. RCW 9A.44.010 (2). The touching may be made through the clothing of either party and without direct contact between the perpetrator and the victim. *State v. Jackson*, 145 Wn.App. 814, 819, 187 P.3d 321 (2008).

Contact is "intimate" within the meaning of the statute if the conduct is of such a nature that a person of common intelligence could fairly be expected to know that, under the circumstances, the parts touched were intimate and therefore the touching was improper. Which anatomical areas, apart from genitalia and breast, are "intimate" is a question for the trier of fact.

Jackson at 819, In re Welfare of Adams, 24 Wn.App. 517, 520-21, 601

P.2d 995 (1979). The hips, buttocks and lower abdomen have all been held to be "intimate parts" for purposes of the statute. *Adams*, supra, at 520-21. "The statute is directed to protecting the parts of the body in close proximity to the primary erogenous areas which a reasonable person could deem private with respect to salacious touching by another." *Adams* at 521. Importantly, the statute defines "sexual contact" as touching for the sexual gratification of either party. Thus, it is immaterial whether a seven year-old such as C.S.G. would be sexually gratified by this touching or deem it salacious. It is enough that it was done for the sexual gratification of Gensitskiy, as the jury found. The weight of authority does not support Gensitskiy's claim. The evidence was sufficient to find that when Gensitskiy rubbed the upper inner thighs of C.S.G. against her skin for no legitimate reason, he did it for his sexual gratification. This Court should affirm the jury's verdict on Count 2.

#### **b.** <u>Count 6</u>

The State concedes, after careful review of V.S.G.'s testimony, that the evidence insufficient to sustain the conviction in count VI of child molestation in the first degree because there is insufficient evidence of sexual contact.

# III. $\frac{3 \text{ THE INFORMATION WAS NOT DEFICIENT AS TO}}{\text{COUNT 7.}}$

Gensitskiy claims that an information charging child molestation in the second degree is constitutionally deficient where it states that the victim was under the age of fourteen at the time of the offense (without also stating that the victim was over the age of twelve). He claims that the child being over the age of twelve is an essential element of child molestation in the second degree. Notably, he cites no authority for this claim. Gensitskiy's claim fails.

As an initial matter, Gensitskiy complains about the sufficiency of the information for the first time on appeal, as he acknowledges. The information must therefore be construed liberally, and "the defendant may prevail only if he can show that the unartful charging language actually prejudiced him." *State v. Nonong*, 169 Wn.2d 220, 227, 237 P.3d 250 (2010).

The crime of child molestation, like the crime of rape of a child, is one crime broken into three degrees. It "proscribes but one offense." *C.f. State v. Smith*, 122 Wn.App. 294, 93 P.3d 206 (2004). In *Smith*, the defendant was charged with rape of a child in the third degree, but the jury was instructed that it could convict the defendant if it found he had sexual intercourse with a minor who was under the age of 16. *Smith* at 298. The evidence established the Smith's victim was 13 at the time of intercourse. Smith argued on appeal that the State was relieved of its burden of proving an essential element of the case, to wit: that the victim was at least fourteen years of age. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, stating:

Here, the State charged Smith with a lesser offense than that proved by the evidence. While it may well have been precluded from amending the information and have been bound to continue with the lesser charge filed, it does not follow that proof of the greater charge requires acquittal of the lesser. To the contrary, proof of a greater necessarily establishes proof of all lesser included offenses. Likewise, a defendant may be convicted of an offense that is an inferior degree to the one charged, provided that the statutes, as here, proscribe but one offense. *Smith* at 298-99, citing *State v. Dodd*, 53 Wn.App. 178, 181, 765 P.2d 1337 (1989), and *State v. Foster*, 91 Wn.2d 466, 471-72, 589 P. 2d 789 (1979).

An essential element is "one whose specification is necessary to establish the very illegality of the behavior." *State v. Tinker*, 155 Wn.2d 219, 221, 118 P.3d 885 (2005) citing *State v. Johnson*, 119 Wn.2d 143, 147, 829 P.2d 1078 (1992). Sexual contact with a child under the age of sixteen, provided the perpetrator is sufficiently older than the victim, is the illegal act. The age of the victim determines the severity of the crime (under age twelve, age twelve to fourteen, age fourteen to sixteen), but not the illegality of the behavior. Gensitskiy's claim fails. Should this Court disagree, the remedy for this error is dismissal of the count without prejudice. *State v. Dallas*, 126 Wn.2d 324, 328-29, 892 P.2d 1082 (1995).

#### IV. <u>THE TRIAL COURT GAVE THE DEFENDANT'S</u> <u>PROPOSED LIMITING INSTRUCTION, AND DID NOT</u> <u>ERR BY GIVING IT AT THE CLOSE OF THE CASE</u> <u>DURING THE GENERAL JURY INSTRUCTIONS.</u>

Gensitskiy complains that the trial court abused its discretion by electing to give his proposed limiting instruction on the use of impeachment evidence at the close of the evidence rather than in between witnesses, when he submitted a formal proposed instruction. See CP 28. The trial court did not abuse its discretion. Discretion is abused when it is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

The trial court must give a limiting instruction when requested if evidence is admitted for a limited purpose. *State v. Redmond*, 150 Wn.2d 489, 496, 78 P.3d 1001 (2003). "Although it is usually preferable to give a limiting instruction contemporaneously with the evidence at issue, it is within a trial court's discretion to choose instead to give a limiting instruction at the close of all of the evidence. Often, for example, deferral of a limiting instruction is necessary in order to allow time for the judge and counsel to draft an appropriately worded instruction." *State v. Ramirez*, 62 Wn.App. 301, 304, 814 P.2d 227 (1991).

Here, defense counsel repeatedly failed to propose an actual instruction of any kind. Simply asking the judge to give one without proposing one is insufficient. Although the court was free to give an oral instruction without the benefit of a written proposed one, it was incumbent upon defense counsel to at least propose language for the court to use. By the time defense counsel finally proposed a formal instruction both V.S.G and D.S.G. (female) had completed their testimony. As the prosecutor noted, it would have potentially confused the jury to hear such an instruction at the time defense counsel finally proposed it. It made far more sense to include the instruction in the final instructions given at the close of the case. The trial court did not abuse its considerable discretion by giving the limiting instruction at the close of the case. Gensitskiy's claim fails.

#### V. <u>THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING</u> RANDY PATTERSON TO TESTIFY ABOUT WHAT HE HEARD D.S.G (FEMALE) SAYING TO SOMEONE ELSE WHEN SHE CALLED HIS PHONE.

The trial court did not err in admitting Randy Patterson's testimony about the conversation he overheard between D.S.G. (female) and Yelena Gensitskiy. Gensitskiy appears to claim that Randy Patterson violated the Washington State Privacy Act when he answered his phone and heard D.S.G. (female) speaking on the phone to Yelena. The privacy act provides:

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, it shall be unlawful for any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or the state of Washington, its agencies, and political subdivisions to intercept, or record any:

(a) Private communication transmitted by telephone, telegraph, radio, or other device between two or more individuals between points within or without the state by any device electronic or otherwise designed to record and/or transmit said communication regardless how such device is powered or actuated, without first obtaining the consent of all the participants in the communication;

(b) Private conversation, by any device electronic or otherwise designed to record or transmit such conversation regardless how the device is powered or actuated without first obtaining the consent of all the persons engaged in the conversation.

#### RCW 9.72.030.

The conversation at issue here is not covered by the Privacy Act, and Gensitskiy cites no on-point authority for his claim that it is. First, this conversation was not private. D.S.G. called Patterson and broadcast the call over the telephone. Patterson did not seek to listen to this conversation; he did not do it surreptitiously. He did no more than answer his phone. Second, Patterson did not "intercept" this phone call. The phone call came into his phone.

The lone case Gensitskiy relies on is inapposite. In *State v. Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d 186, 190, 102 P.3d 789 (2004) a mother used the speakerphone function of the family's cordless telephone to surreptitiously listen in on a telephone conversation between her daughter and her daughter's boyfriend. In addition to being factually distinguishable to a fatal degree, *Christensen* concerned a violation of RCW 9.73.030 (1) (a) whereas any violation of the privacy act that could conceivably be deemed to have occurred here would fall under RCW 9.73.030 (1) (b). Gensitskiy failed to adequately brief this claim and this Court may decline to review it. *State v. Corbett*, 158 Wn.App. 576, 597, 242 P.3d 52 (2010) ("We do not review assigned errors where arguments for them are not adequately developed in the brief.")

Finally, any error in admitting this testimony was harmless. "A harmless error is an error which is trivial, or formal, or merely academic, and was not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party assigning it, and in no way affected the final outcome of the case." State v. Wanrow, 88 Wn.2d 221, 237, 559 P.2d 548 (1977). Here, this testimony was of minor moment in the overall trial. D.S.G. (female) had been impeached extensively throughout the trial, and this testimony added little to it. The prosecutor made the point through several witnesses that Gensitskiy and his wife, Yelena, had pressured some or all of their children into either not disclosing the abuse or changing their stories. The conversation Randy Patterson overhead (of which only one side--D.S.G.'s--was relayed to the jury) did little to add to the picture that had been adequately painted through all of the testimony. Moreover, this testimony was offered to impeach D.S.G., and not for its truth. Any error in admitting this testimony was plainly harmless.

#### VI. <u>GENSITSKIY MUST BE RESENTENCED ON COUNTS</u> <u>2 AND 7.</u>

Gensitskiy asks this Court to reverse his sentence on counts 2 and 7 because he was sentenced under RCW 9.94A.507 whereas the beginning of the charging period for those offenses pre-dates the effective date of RCW 9.94A.507 (formerly RCW 9.94A.712). The State agrees and concedes this error. *Cf. State v. Parker*, 132 Wn.2d 182, 191, 937 P.2d 575 (1997) ("Use of the increased penalties without requiring the State to prove the acts occurred after the effective dates of the increased penalties would violate the ex post facto clause of both the United States and Washington Constitutions.") Gensitskiy must be resentenced.

#### D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

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